
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No.: ___________________ 
 
JULIE REISKIN, and 
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado Non-profit Organization, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
GREYHOUND LINES, INC. a Delaware Corporation, 
 

Defendant. 
 
 

COMPLAINT 
 
 

Plaintiffs, Julie Reiskin and the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”), by and 

through undersigned counsel, hereby bring this Complaint against Greyhound Lines, Inc., for 

violations of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 12181–

12189, Sections 504 and 505 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. §§ 794–794a, and 

Parts 6 and 8 of the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act (“CADA”), Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 24-34-

601–605, 801–805. 

Introduction  

1. Defendant Greyhound Lines, Inc. (“Greyhound”) is an intercity over-the-road bus 

common carrier serving more than 3800 destinations across North America.  

2. Greyhound adopted its name in 1929. On information and belief, Greyhound 

operates the Greyhound Connect service in Colorado using, in part, funds from the federal 

“Formula Grants for Rural Areas” program from the Federal Transit Administration.  
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3. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (“Section 504”) was enacted in 1973 and 

prohibits recipients of federal financial assistance from discriminating against people with 

disabilities. Greyhound receives federal financial assistance. 

4. The CADA has been in existence since 1951. In 1971, the Colorado General 

Assembly addressed discrimination regarding the civil rights of the blind and other handicapped 

persons. The CADA was amended in 1977 to address disability-related discrimination. The 

CADA was amended in 2014 to address increased damages and penalties for discrimination 

against people with disabilities. The 2014 amendments also added the following language, “A 

court that hears civil suits pursuant to this section shall apply the same standards and defenses 

that are available under the federal ‘Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990’, . . . and its related 

amendments and implementing regulations.” 

5. On July 26, 1990, the ADA became law, establishing the most comprehensive 

federal civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s history. 

6. It has now been thirty years since the enactment of the ADA. 

7. The ADA was passed to ensure people with disabilities are not subject to 

discrimination on the basis of their disabilities in employment, by public services, by public 

accommodations, and in other ways specified in the ADA, including discrimination by privately 

owned over-the-road bus companies like Greyhound. 

8. Despite that anti-discrimination mandate thirty years ago, the nation’s largest and 

most recognizable over-the-road bus company, Greyhound, continues to operate its service with 

inadequate wheelchair lifts, inadequate maintenance on those lifts, inadequate employee training 

on the use of lifts including emergency procedures, and inadequate or poorly communicated 
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policies about how to address lift failures that result in discrimination against individuals with 

disabilities. 

9. These forms of discrimination against individuals with disabilities, especially 

those who use wheelchairs and require the use of a wheelchair lift to board the vehicles, are 

prohibited by the anti-discrimination statutes at issue in this case. 

10. This discrimination by Greyhound has been the subject of multiple lawsuits and 

investigations, including a relatively recent lawsuit brought by the United States Department of 

Justice (“DOJ”), United States v. Greyhound Lines, Inc., No. 16-67-RGA (D. Del. Feb. 10, 

2016), that resulted in a very comprehensive Consent Decree entered on February 10, 2016, by 

the Honorable Richard G. Andrews, United States District Judge for the District of Delaware 

(“DOJ CD”). 

11. A substantial portion of the DOJ’s allegations in that lawsuit, and an equally 

substantial part of the DOJ CD, involved Greyhound’s failure to maintain its wheelchair lifts and 

adequately train its staff on the use of its wheelchair lifts, resulting in individuals with disabilities 

who use wheelchairs for mobility to be stranded in far-flung locations without a means to secure 

other accessible transportation or find an accessible hotel room—as occurred in the incident 

described involving Ms. Reiskin in this Complaint. The DOJ CD contained reporting 

requirements from Greyhound to the DOJ regarding Greyhound’s efforts to comply with the 

provisions of the consent decree, including reports about the types of complaints Ms. Reiskin 

raises in this Complaint. For example, the DOJ CD states the following, in part: 

Greyhound will maintain in operative condition those features of vehicles that are 
required to make the vehicles accessible to and usable by individuals with 
disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12184; 49 C.F.R. § 37.161. These features include lifts 
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and other means of access to vehicles and securement devices. 49 C.F.R. § 
37.161(b). Such accessibility features must be repaired promptly if they are 
damaged or out of order, and reasonable steps must be taken in the interim to 
accommodate individuals with disabilities who would otherwise use the feature. 
42 U.S.C. § 12184; 49 C.F.R. § 37.161(b). 
 

and 

Greyhound will ensure that personnel are trained to proficiency as appropriate to 
their duties in, among other things, proper operation and maintenance of 
accessibility features and equipment (including, but not limited to, lifts, 
securement devices, and the “kneeling” of buses that have such capacity), 
boarding assistance, securement of mobility aids, and sensitive and appropriate 
interaction with passengers with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12184; 49 C.F.R. §§ 
37.173, 37.209. 
 
12. The problems investigated by the DOJ precipitated Greyhound’s commitment to 

improve its service to individuals with disabilities, resolving the DOJ’s claims of discriminatory 

conduct via the DOJ CD that was in effect for three years and is now expired. These problems 

involve many of the same grievances as are involved in this case and also involve the same 

issues for which CCDC has brought suit against Greyhound previously. 

13. Ms. Reiskin’s experiences with Greyhound during the eligibility period between 

February 8, 2013, and February 8, 2016, rendered Ms. Reiskin eligible for a monetary award of 

$1,400 under the DOJ CD. 

14. CCDC is aware of at least one other CCDC member who was eligible for and 

made similar claims against Greyhound under the terms of the DOJ CD based on Greyhound’s 

discrimination against them. 

15. In addition, according to a May 2, 2019, DOJ Media Release, since 2016, 

Greyhound has paid over $3 million to compensate victims who made claims under the DOJ CD. 

See Press Release, Dep’t of Justice, Over $3 Million Paid to Individuals in Disability Settlement 
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with Greyhound (May 2, 2019), https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/over-3-million-paid-individuals-

disability-settlement-

greyhound#:~:text=Since%202016%2C%20Greyhound%20Has%20Paid,attempting%20to%20tr

avel%20on%20Greyhound. 

16. The DOJ CD expired on February 10, 2019. 

17. Ms. Reiskin’s claims under the DOJ CD were only the latest in a series of issues 

between CCDC and its members and Greyhound going back decades. For example: 

a. In Colo. Cross-Disability Coal. v. Greyhound Lines, No. 07–cv-00598-

LTB-MEH (D. Colo. filed March 27, 2007), Ms. Reiskin, CCDC, and other 

CCDC members filed a lawsuit against Greyhound as well as its then-subsidiary 

company, TNM&O, and other over-the-road bus companies, for incidents 

occurring between 2005 and 2007, alleging that Greyhound and its subsidiaries 

violated the ADA and Section 504, which resulted in a settlement agreement in 

2008; 

b. In October of 2010, CCDC and Ms. Reiskin resolved a potential lawsuit 

against Greyhound regarding Greyhound’s failure to maintain its accessibility 

features; 

c. In June of 2011, CCDC and Ms. Reiskin resolved a potential lawsuit 

against Greyhound regarding Greyhound’s failure to maintain its accessibility 

features and failure to train its employees to proficiency; 

d. In October of 2011, CCDC members resolved a potential lawsuit against 

Greyhound regarding Greyhound’s failure to provide accessible transportation 
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despite having contacted Greyhound forty-eight hours in advance of their planned 

travel;1 

e. In late 2014, a CCDC member resolved a potential lawsuit against 

Greyhound regarding Greyhound’s failure to honor his tickets for wheelchair 

seating because Greyhound had subsequently re-sold those tickets to nondisabled 

passengers; 

f. In June of 2014, Ms. Reiskin intended to file a lawsuit against Greyhound 

regarding Greyhound’s requirement that individuals seeking to reserve wheelchair 

seating locations on its buses must call instead being able to purchase their tickets 

online, an option available to all other passengers, but did not file said lawsuit 

because the issue was resolved in the settlement of Minnis v. Greyhound Lines. 

Inc., No. 8:14-CV-00189-JFS-ANx (C.D. Cal. 2014), wherein Greyhound agreed 

to permit individuals seeking to reserve wheelchair seating locations to do so 

online; and, 

g. In April of 2015, Ms. Reiskin resolved a potential lawsuit as a part of the 

DOJ CD regarding Greyhound requiring her to purchase a second ticket because, 

when she purchased her first ticket online, she was not permitted to indicate via 

the website that she would require a wheelchair seating location. 

18. The DOJ lawsuit and DOJ CD are also just the latest in a series of issues between 

                                                 
1 As discussed elsewhere in this Complaint, prior to October 29, 2012, Greyhound had required individuals who use 
wheelchairs and other mobility devices to contact Greyhound at least forty-eight hours in advance of travel to ensure 
that an accessible bus was provided for that particular route. As of October 29, 2012, Greyhound is required to have 
one hundred percent of its fleet accessible, obviating the need and requirement for such advanced notice. 49 C.F.R. § 
37.185.  
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the United States government and Greyhound. 

19. For example, the DOJ resolved an investigation into Greyhound for violations of 

the ADA and Section 504 in 1999 by entering into a settlement agreement, under which 

Greyhound was required to take several steps toward improving its service to passengers with 

disabilities who used wheelchairs and other mobility devices by implementing policies, 

improving training of its staff, providing notice to the public of the accessibility improvements 

Greyhound was adopting, and engaging in several other remedial measures. See Settlement 

Agreement under the Americans with Disabilities Act between the United States of America and 

Greyhound Lines, Inc., Sept. 24, 1999, https://www.ada.gov/greyhnd.htm (last visited August 18, 

2020). 

20. As of October 29, 2012, the entirety of Greyhound’s over-the-road bus (“OTRB”) 

fleet was required to be readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities who use 

wheelchairs and other mobility devices. 49 C.F.R. § 37.185(b).  

21. However, on September 4, 2012, Greyhound wrote to the United States 

Department of Transportation (“DOT”) to request a three-year extension, arguing that 

Greyhound misunderstood the regulation’s requirement that “100 percent of the buses in its 

fleet”, id., be accessible to mean that fewer than 100 percent of the buses in Greyhound’s fleet 

were required to be accessible. Letter from Dave Leach, President/CEO, Greyhound, to the 

Honorable Ray LaHood, Sec’y, U.S. Dep’t of Transp. (Sept. 4, 2012). 

22. The DOT denied Greyhound’s request. Letter from Robert S. Rivkin, General 

Counsel, Dep’t of Transp., to Dave Leach, President and CEO, Greyhound (Nov. 29, 2012). 

23. Greyhound has exhibited an extensive pattern and practice of discriminating 
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against individuals with disabilities, particularly those who use wheelchairs or other mobility 

devices. 

24. That pattern and practice of discrimination has impacted CCDC and Julie Reiskin 

for years as set forth above. 

25. Most recently, Greyhound discriminated against Ms. Reiskin, CCDC, and other 

individuals who use wheelchairs for mobility on the basis of disability by failing to provide 

adequate and appropriate wheelchair lifts, failing to adequately and appropriately maintain its 

wheelchair lifts, and failing to adequately and appropriately train its staff on the use and repair of 

its wheelchair lifts, as set forth more fully below. 

26. In many parts of rural Colorado, Greyhound is the only option for accessible 

transportation for people who use wheelchairs and mobility devices. This is particularly true in 

some of the mountain regions. 

27. Plaintiffs seek a court order compelling Defendant to comply with the ADA, 

Section 504 and the CADA, monetary damages for Ms. Reiskin and CCDC, and the recovery of 

their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

28. Thirty years after the passage of the ADA (and even longer with respect to the 

other statutes at issue in this case) is a long time to for individuals with disabilities to have to 

wait for equal justice under the law and to have to keep battling Greyhound’s same 

discriminatory conduct against people who use wheelchairs or mobility devices. The time has 

come for Greyhound to comply with the law so the perpetual discrimination against people who 

use wheelchairs and mobility devices ends. Greyhound should not need to be constantly 

reminded through litigation and settlements of their obligations under the statutes at issue. 
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Plaintiffs seek to rectify that. For people who require the use of motorized wheelchairs for 

mobility, being stranded in remote locations because scheduled and reserved transportation that 

is required to be accessible and properly maintained as well as transportation services that are 

required to train their operators to proficiency with respect to accessibility equipment can be—

and was for Ms. Reiskin—a frightening, exhausting, humiliating and physically harmful 

experience, as described in this Complaint. Having to address these issues year after year when 

Greyhound both is fully aware of its failures and also does not seem to recognize the importance 

of compliance with disability discrimination laws has taken its toll on many people with 

disabilities who use wheelchairs and other mobility devices. It is long past the time for “That 

Dirty Dog”2 to clean up its operations once and for all, and stop discriminating against people 

with disabilities who are, after all, members of the public who use Greyhound’s public 

accommodation. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

29. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343 and 2201. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law 

claims made pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1367. See also Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-802(4) (“A court 

that hears civil suits pursuant to this section shall apply the same standards and defenses that are 

                                                 
2 Greyhound’s failures to comply with the ADA, such as those set forth in this Complaint, have gone on for so long 
that a nationwide disability rights organization, ADAPT, which at one time was an acronym for “Americans 
Disabled for Accessible Public Transportation,” allegedly battled with Greyhound and the United States Department 
of Transportation for their refusal to enforce any regulations to allow full use wheelchairs and mobility devices to 
access Greyhound, which all led to Greyhound being given the name commonly used by people with disabilities 
who are familiar with the long-standing ADA violations committed by Greyhound as “That Dirty Dog.” See, e.g., 
ADAPT, ADAPT 25 years – 1997 –Washington: I was there . . . Jeniene Bertram-Kemp, https://adapt.org/1997-
washington-jeniene-burtram-kemp/ (recounting advocacy actions against “Dirty Dog” Greyhound in print and 
video). 
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available under the federal ‘Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990’, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., 

and its related amendments and implementing regulations.”). 

30. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

 Parties 

31. Plaintiff Julie Reiskin resides in the City and County of Denver, Colorado, and is 

and was at all times material hereto a resident of Colorado. 

32. Ms. Reiskin is an individual with a disability, multiple sclerosis, that substantially 

limits her ability to walk and who requires the use of a motorized wheelchair for mobility and 

required use of a motorized wheelchair at all times material hereto. 

33. Ms. Reiskin is a CCDC member and also its Executive Director. 

34. Plaintiff CCDC is a non-profit corporation organized pursuant to Section 

501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Formed in 1990 for the purposes of ensuring the ADA’s 

promises would be realized in Colorado, CCDC is a statewide membership organization whose 

members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies. CCDC’s principal office is 

located in the City and County of Denver, Colorado. 

35. Many CCDC members are individuals with disabilities who use wheelchairs and 

other mobility devices. Many CCDC staff members, including Ms. Reiskin, and CCDC board 

members are also individuals with disabilities. Several CCDC staff members and board members 

use wheelchairs or other mobility devices for mobility. 

36. CCDC’s mission is to advocate for social justice for people with all types of 

disabilities. 

37. CCDC brings this suit both in its own right as an aggrieved party and as a 
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representative of its members. 

38. Defendant Greyhound is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of 

business at 600 Vine Street, Suite 1400, Cincinnati, Ohio. Greyhound’s parent company is 

FirstGroup, which has its headquarters in Aberdeen, Scotland.  

39. Defendant operates a fixed-route system within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 

12181(4) and 49 C.F.R. § 37.3. 

40.  Defendant operates OTRBs within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 12181(5) and 49 

C.F.R. § 37.3. See also 49 C.F.R. pt. 37, app. D at 447 (“The ADA’s definition of ‘over-the-road 

bus’ may also be somewhat narrower than the common understanding of the term. The ADA 

definition focuses on a bus with an elevated passenger deck over a baggage compartment (i.e., a 

‘Greyhound-type’ bus).”) 

41. Defendant is a “large operator” of such OTRBs within the meaning of 49 C.F.R. 

Part 37. See also U.S. Dep’t of Transp., Fed. Motor Carrier Safety Admin., ADA Requirements 

for Over-the-Road Bus Companies, https://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/regulations/americans-

disabilities-act-reporting-and-other-requirements-over-road-bus-companies (“Under DOT’s 

regulatory definition, a large operator or large OTRB company has gross annual transportation 

revenues equal to or exceeding $9.9 million. This threshold is based upon the definition of Class 

I motor carrier and is adjusted annually for inflation with Bureau of Labor Statistics data.”). 

42. Both Greyhound and its parent company have gross annual transportation 

revenues exceeding $9.9 million.  

43. Greyhound meets the definition of a “large operator” in all respects. 

44. Defendant is a private company primarily engaged in the business of 
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transportation. 

45. Defendant operates OTRB services in the state of Colorado. 

Facts 

46. Early in 2018, CCDC began planning a Listening Tour, the purpose of which was 

for Ms. Reiskin, as CCDC’s Executive Director, to tour the state and host membership meetings 

to gain the perspectives of CCDC’s members as part of CCDC’s formulation of its long-term 

strategic planning. 

47. In conjunction with the Listening Tour, CCDC was also performing consulting 

services under a contract with Rocky Mountain Health Plans (“Contract”), which required Ms. 

Reiskin, as CCDC’s Executive Director, to co-host meetings involving individuals with 

disabilities. Pursuant to that Contract, Ms. Reiskin was scheduled to co-host meetings in Grand 

Junction on August 26, 2018, and in Glenwood Springs on August 27, 2018. 

48. CCDC planned its Listening Tour dates to coincide with Ms. Reiskin’s travel to 

the Western Slope of Colorado to perform under the Contract, with the Listening Tour occurring 

in Glenwood Springs, Colorado, on August 28, 2018, and in Grand Junction, Colorado, on 

August 29, 2018. As part of the travel arrangements, Ms. Reiskin scheduled a flight from Grand 

Junction, Colorado, back to Denver, Colorado, later in the afternoon of August 29, 2018. 

49. Also as part of her travel arrangements, Ms. Reiskin reserved a wheelchair 

accessible hotel room in Grand Junction, Colorado, for the night of August 28, 2018. 

50. In Ms. Reiskin’s experience as an individual who has used a motorized 

wheelchair for decades and as CCDC’s Executive Director, reserving accessible hotel rooms 

often requires significant planning, with reservations made well in advance to ensure that the 
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limited number of wheelchair accessible rooms in the hotel are available for reservation. For 

example, when Ms. Reiskin’s reservation for the wheelchair accessible hotel room in Grand 

Junction, Colorado, was made, it was the last available wheelchair accessible hotel room 

available among hotels in the city’s downtown area where she needed to stay. 

51. On the afternoon of August 28, 2018, Ms. Reiskin traveled to the Greyhound bus 

stop in Glenwood Springs, Colorado, prepared to travel to her accessible hotel room in Grand 

Junction, Colorado. 

52. Ms. Reiskin arranged her travel so she would be able to arrive at her hotel in 

Grand Junction, Colorado, in the early evening so that she would have adequate time to rest and 

prepare for her Listening Tour meeting the following morning. 

53. The Greyhound bus stop in Glenwood Springs, Colorado, is located at a gas 

station with a convenience store close to Interstate 70. 

54. While Ms. Reiskin waited at the Glenwood Springs, Colorado, bus stop outside of 

the gas station, she checked the Greyhound app on her smart phone and discovered that 

Greyhound reported her bus was estimated to arrive approximately ninety minutes late. 

55. Prior to the arrival of Ms. Reiskin’s bus, a different Greyhound bus arrived at the 

bus stop in Glenwood Springs, Colorado. This was not the bus for which she had made a 

reservation. 

56. On information and belief, this other Greyhound bus that arrived at the bus stop in 

Glenwood Springs, Colorado, was a bus used for training a driver, as only the driver and another 

Greyhound employee were on board. There were no other passengers on the bus. 

57. Ms. Reiskin began chatting with those two Greyhound employees who had 
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arrived on the bus in Glenwood Springs, Colorado. During that conversation, Ms. Reiskin was 

informed that the driver was, in fact, training. 

58. Ms. Reiskin asked the two Greyhound employees if they could ascertain 

information regarding whether the bus on which she had reserved for her travel to Grand 

Junction, Colorado, was, in fact, running ninety minutes late. 

59. On information and belief, one of those Greyhound employees contacted a 

Greyhound dispatcher and confirmed that Ms. Reiskin’s bus was, in fact, anticipated to be ninety 

minutes late. 

60. As that other bus and the two Greyhound employees prepared to depart Glenwood 

Springs, Colorado, traveling west toward Grand Junction, Colorado, Ms. Reiskin and the two 

Greyhound employees joked that she should simply ride with them rather than wait for the late 

bus for which she had a ticket. 

61. Ms. Reiskin’s bus, number 6572, did, in fact, arrive at the Glenwood Springs, 

Colorado, bus stop approximately ninety minutes late. 

62. As Ms. Reiskin prepared to board the bus, she was met by the driver, Dominique 

Watson, who approached her in a confrontational manner. 

63. Based on Ms. Reiskin’s prior travels using Greyhound, she expected Mr. Watson 

would deploy the wheelchair lift so that she could board using her motorized wheelchair.  

64. Instead, Mr. Watson asked Ms. Reiskin, in a confrontational manner, whether she 

had called Greyhound the day before her travel to inform Greyhound that she would be traveling 

using a wheelchair and would require a wheelchair accessible seating location on the bus, as well 

as use of the wheelchair lift and lift door. 
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65. Because, as of October 29, 2012, one hundred percent of Greyhound’s OTRB 

fleet is required to be accessible, individuals traveling with mobility devices, such as Ms. 

Reiskin, are no longer required to contact Greyhound in advance of their travel to ensure that 

Greyhound utilizes an accessible bus for that trip. This was the intent and purpose behind the 

ADA regulation requiring that large OTRB operators have one hundred percent of their fleet of 

buses to be accessible to people who use wheelchairs and mobility devices.  

66. DOJ regulatory commentary states that one of the purposes of the ADA is to 

increase accessibility over time. 28 C.F.R. pt. 36, app. C at 980 (“The ADA is geared to the 

future—its goal being that, over time, access will be the rule, rather than the exception.”). 

Ensuring that large OTRB operators had one hundred percent of their fleets of OTRBs be 

wheelchair accessible is one example of this. Cf. 49 C.F.R. § 37.193 (providing for an interim 

period during which OTRB fleets may not be fully accessible and during which the OTRB 

operator may require up to forty-eight hours’ advance notice to provide service and, even if an 

individual with a disability does not provide forty-eight hours’ advance notice, the OTRB 

operator must still provide service if it can do so by making a reasonable effort.) 

67. In fact, on an earlier trip on Greyhound, but following Greyhound’s one hundred 

percent fleet accessibility deadline, Ms. Reiskin contacted Greyhound to ensure that an 

accessible bus would be used for her trip, and she was told by the Greyhound representative with 

whom she spoke that individuals who use wheelchairs and mobility devices were no longer 

required to call Greyhound in advance of their trips. On information and belief, the reason the 

Greyhound representative provided this information was related to the requirement that 

Greyhound have a fleet of OTRBs that are wheelchair accessible.  
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68. When Ms. Reiskin made her reservation for her travel on Greyhound on August 

28, 2018, she made sure to identify herself as a person with a disability who uses a wheelchair, 

would be traveling in her wheelchair, and would need the features of a wheelchair accessible 

bus. 

69. When Mr. Watson approached Ms. Reiskin at the Glenwood Springs stop as she 

prepared to board to ask whether she had called forty-eight hours in advance, Ms. Reiskin 

showed Mr. Watson her ticket, which provided information identifying her as a person with a 

disability who uses a mobility device. 

70. Mr. Watson continued to display rude and unprofessional behavior toward Ms. 

Reiskin. 

71. As Ms. Reiskin waited for the lift to be let down so that she could board the bus, 

Mr. Watson attempted to operate the wheelchair lift, but the wheelchair lift did not deploy. 

72. On information and belief, the wheelchair lift did not deploy because it was not 

adequately maintained by Greyhound as is required under the ADA. 

73. Mr. Watson told Ms. Reiskin that if people with disabilities did not call 

Greyhound the day before their scheduled travel date, the drivers do not cycle the lift to ensure it 

is functioning properly before putting the bus into service. 

74. Ms. Reiskin is familiar with the process of “cycling a wheelchair lift” for the 

purpose of ensuring that it functions properly before a bus driver departs from a bus depot as a 

result of many other experiences Ms. Reiskin has had with malfunctioning lifts during her travels 

with Greyhound and with other bus companies. This is one of the requirements set forth in the 

DOJ CD mentioned above and maintenance of accessible equipment is a requirement of the 
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ADA as set forth below. 

75. Mr. Watson also told Ms. Reiskin that he had attempted to switch buses while in 

Denver, but that he was not permitted to do so. 

76. It was unknown to Ms. Reiskin why Mr. Watson wanted to switch buses while in 

Denver, but she believed Mr. Watson made the remark because of the inoperable wheelchair lift. 

77. When the wheelchair lift did not deploy, Mr. Watson attempted to locate the 

compartment for the lift’s manual override as requested by Ms. Reiskin, but he was unable to 

find it. 

78. Based on Ms. Reiskin’s many experiences using buses, she is familiar with the 

fact that wheelchair lifts on buses have a system by which the bus operator can operate a 

wheelchair lift manually if the automated controls do not work properly. 

79. Eventually another individual located the wheelchair lift’s manual override 

compartment. Mr. Watson appeared to be unaware of the location of the wheelchair lift’s manual 

override compartment, indicating that he had not been trained to proficiency on how to employ 

manual override. 

80. When Mr. Watson opened the compartment for the manual override, Ms. Reiskin 

saw screws and something that looked like a lever fall out of the compartment, which, on 

information and belief, is not supposed to happen. 

81. From her vantage point outside of the bus at the area where the wheelchair lift 

should have been deployed, Ms. Reiskin was able to see the referenced compartment. 

82. Ms. Reiskin noticed that a part of the manual override crank appeared broken off, 

rendering it inoperable. 
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83. Again, Ms. Reiskin has used many buses, and she is familiar with how the manual 

override systems, including the override crank described above, work. 

84. Ms. Reiskin also observed that the compartment appeared in disarray, missing 

some pieces and containing other things that appeared out of place in the compartment. 

85. Once again, Ms. Reiskin’s prior experience riding buses provides her with 

knowledge of what the manual override compartments usually have in them. 

86. Ms. Reiskin also saw that the wheelchair lift’s fuse box also appeared to have 

been neglected and in disrepair. 

87. Ms. Reiskin’s many travels on buses provides her with knowledge of what the 

fuse boxes look like and why this particular fuse box appeared to be unlike fuse boxes on other 

buses she has used. 

88. Mr. Watson attempted to use the wheelchair lift’s manual override, but the 

manual override did not work. 

89. On information and belief, the manual override did not work because it was 

broken and not maintained by Greyhound. 

90. On information and belief, Mr. Watson had not received appropriate training on 

how to use the wheelchair lift manual override system. 

91. Mr. Watson, with the assistance of others, attempted to operate the wheelchair lift 

for approximately forty-five minutes, but no one was able to get the lift to deploy. 

92. Ms. Reiskin observed that Mr. Watson then contacted someone at Greyhound 

who, on information and belief, was a supervisor named Mary. 

93. Ms. Reiskin was not able to hear both sides of the conversation between Mr. 
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Watson and Mary, but Mr. Watson then gave Ms. Reiskin the phone to speak directly with Mary. 

94. Mary told Ms. Reiskin that, because the lift was inoperable, resulting in Ms. 

Reiskin not being able to board the bus on which she had reserved her trip and even reported that 

she used a motorized wheelchair, Greyhound could rent Ms. Reiskin a hotel room in Glenwood 

Springs, Colorado, for the night, with the possible opportunity for Ms. Reiskin to catch the next 

Greyhound bus from Glenwood Springs, Colorado, to Grand Junction, Colorado, which was 

scheduled to arrive at the Glenwood Springs, Colorado, stop at approximately 3:00 a.m. 

95. As a result of the ninety-minute delay in the arrival of the bus for which Ms. 

Reiskin had purchased a ticket in the first place and the delay in Mr. Watson’s and others’ 

attempts to operate the wheelchair lift once the bus finally arrived, it was approximately 6:15 

p.m. when Ms. Reiskin spoke with Mary. 

96. Based on the scheduled arrival of the bus in Glenwood Springs, Colorado, and the 

amount of time it takes for a Greyhound bus to get from Glenwood Springs, Colorado, to Grand 

Junction, Colorado, Ms. Reiskin should have arrived at her hotel in Grand Junction, Colorado, by 

the time she was speaking with Mary. 

97. Ms. Reiskin would have been required to wait nearly nine hours for the 3:00 a.m. 

bus from Glenwood Springs, Colorado, to Grand Junction, Colorado, that Mary had offered as a 

solution to the inoperable lift and inability of Mr. Watson to use the manual override system.  

98. Given Ms. Reiskin’s experiences with reserving wheelchair accessible hotel 

rooms, Ms. Reiskin doubted there were any accessible rooms available immediately in 

Glenwood Springs because, as referenced above, the ADA requires only a limited number of 

hotel rooms to be wheelchair accessible, and whether a hotel has wheelchair accessible rooms 
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depends on many factors such as the age of the hotel, whether renovations have been made, the 

timing of when reservations are made, whether the hotel is a historic building, and other factors. 

99. Even if there had been an accessible room available immediately in Glenwood 

Springs, Ms. Reiskin, a motorized wheelchair user, was at a somewhat remote Greyhound bus 

stop without a way to travel to any hotel in Glenwood Springs or back to the bus stop at 3:00 

a.m.  

100. A motorized wheelchair can only hold the battery charge for a certain amount of 

time before it needs to be plugged in to a battery charger, there was not a hotel close enough to 

enable Ms. Reiskin to roll there in her wheelchair, and there was no guarantee that the pathway, 

if any, from the bus stop, located near the interstate, to an accessible hotel was even possible or 

accessible via wheelchair. Ms. Reiskin is not familiar enough with the layout of Glenwood 

Springs, Colorado, to know whether sidewalks would be available or if travel from her bus stop 

to an accessible hotel would be possible. 

101. Although Glenwood Springs does have accessible public transportation, on 

information and belief, that public transportation has limited hours. 

102. On information and belief, Glenwood Springs’ public transportation does not 

operate at or near 3:00 a.m. 

103. On information and belief, the only accessible transportation service for which 

Ms. Reiskin would have been eligible to use was “Ride Glenwood Springs.” According to the 

website for this transportation service: “Ride Glenwood Springs (RGS) is the City’s year-round 

public transit bus service. RGS buses operate daily from 6:53 a.m. to 7:53 p.m., at 30 minute 

intervals. Stops are located throughout Glenwood Springs, near tourist attractions, the downtown 
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area, shopping centers and neighborhoods. RGS connects to regional Roaring Fork 

Transportation Authority (RFTA) transit services, Greyhound Bus Lines, and Amtrak.” City of 

Glenwood Springs Colorado, Ride Glenwood Springs, https://www.gwsco.gov/187/Ride-

Glenwood-Springs (last visited August 13, 2020). 

104. In Ms. Reiskin’s experience, there are no wheelchair accessible cabs in Glenwood 

Springs. 

105. In Ms. Reiskin’s experience, there are very few wheelchair accessible cabs on the 

Western Slope. 

106. As a result, Ms. Reiskin had no other realistic transportation options for her 

motorized wheelchair, and she needed to board the bus for which he purchased a ticket in order 

to meet her obligations under the Contract and be in Grand Junction, Colorado, for the Listening 

Tour. 

107. Ms. Reiskin contemplated simply waiting at the Greyhound bus stop until the 

3:00 a.m. bus arrived, but she was concerned that, without a ticket for that other bus, the driver 

would not permit her to ride without a ticket for that bus or that the limited wheelchair locations 

on that bus would be occupied. 

108. Since the Greyhound bus stop in Glenwood Springs, Colorado, was located 

outside of a gas station, there was not a Greyhound ticket counter available to provide Ms. 

Reiskin with a ticket for the 3:00 a.m. bus. 

109. Neither Mary nor any other Greyhound employee offered to provide Ms. Reiskin 

with a ticket for the 3:00 a.m. bus. 

110. As Ms. Reiskin had been out in the elements at the Greyhound bus stop for hours, 
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having arrived near 3:00 p.m., she began feeling overheated, a result of the summer heat which is 

compounded by her disability and exacerbates her disability, that, in combination with the added 

stress of this situation in conjunction with her already full schedule and Greyhound’s failure to 

provide her with a bus with an operable wheelchair lift, made her very fatigued, further 

exacerbating her disability and its symptoms. 

111. Ms. Reiskin also was concerned that—assuming the availability of an accessible 

hotel room, of transportation between the bus stop and hotel room, and a wheelchair accessible 

spot on the 3:00 a.m. bus—the disruption of a night’s sleep by waking in the early morning hours 

to make the 3:00 a.m. bus would exacerbate her fatigue and adversely affect her performance of 

hosting a meeting later that morning. 

112. Ms. Reiskin also grew concerned for the other passengers on the bus because she 

realized, given the lateness and delay, that those individuals might miss connecting routes further 

west, including in Utah, Nevada, and California. 

113. Ms. Reiskin also notified Mary and Mr. Watson that she had a hotel reservation in 

Grand Junction for the night, to which Mary responded that Greyhound would not reimburse 

CCDC for that reservation. 

114. Ms. Reiskin mentioned to Dominique and Mary that she knew of an individual 

who drove an accessible cab with a company, Millenium Services, that is located in Grand 

Junction, and Mary and Mr. Watson informed Ms. Reiskin that Greyhound would pay for the cab 

service to transport Ms. Reiskin to Grand Junction if she was able to make the arrangements. 

115. Ms. Reiskin, Mary, and Mr. Watson discussed how Greyhound would pay for the 

cab service, as Ms. Reiskin was aware that this cab company only accepted cash and checks. 
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116. Ms. Reiskin, Mary, and Mr. Watson agreed that Ms. Reiskin would pay for cost 

of the cab and that Greyhound would reimburse Ms. Reiskin for that cost. 

117. Ms. Reiskin contacted the cab company and arranged for the accessible cab to 

pick her up at the Glenwood Springs, Colorado, Greyhound bus station and take her to Grand 

Junction. 

118. After Ms. Reiskin contacted the cab company, Mary suggested that the earlier 

training bus, which had departed from the Glenwood Springs Greyhound bus stop before Ms. 

Reiskin’s bus had arrived, could be routed to return to Glenwood Springs to pick her up. 

119. Ms. Reiskin was concerned that the lift on that other bus would not function 

properly either, but, at that point, the accessible cab was already en route from Grand Junction, 

so Ms. Reiskin declined Mary’s offer to have the training bus return to Glenwood Springs. 

120. Ms. Reiskin’s past experience with this particular cab company had always been 

good with respect to the fact that they had operable wheelchair lifts. 

121. Ms. Reiskin remained at the Glenwood Springs, Colorado, Greyhound bus stop as 

the bus driven by Mr. Watson left at approximately 7:00 p.m. 

122. The accessible cab arrived at the Glenwood Springs, Colorado, Greyhound bus 

stop to pick up Ms. Reiskin at approximately 7:30 p.m. 

123. Ms. Reiskin finally arrived at her hotel room in Grand Junction, Colorado, at 

approximately 9:00 p.m. 

124. The accessible cab trip cost CCDC a total of $396.00, not including the tip Ms. 

Reiskin gave to the driver for making the trip. 

125. A copy of the receipt Ms. Reiskin received from Millenium Transportation is 

Case 1:20-cv-02605   Document 1   Filed 08/27/20   USDC Colorado   Page 23 of 47



24 
 

attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

126. Ms. Reiskin again attempted to use Greyhound for a trip from Colorado Springs, 

Colorado, to Denver, Colorado, scheduled for the evening of September 11, 2018. 

127. On the evening of September 11, 2018, Ms. Reiskin arrived at the Greyhound bus 

station in Colorado Springs. 

128. Ms. Reiskin again made sure to identify herself as a person with a disability who 

used a mobility device when she purchased her ticket for this trip.  

129. When Ms. Reiskin’s Greyhound bus, number 7310, arrived and Ms. Reiskin 

sought to board, however, the driver was unprepared for Ms. Reiskin to travel in her motorized 

wheelchair. 

130. On information and belief, the driver had not cycled the lift before beginning the 

trip, which, as discussed above, is how bus operators can ensure the wheelchair lift will function 

before putting the bus into service.  

131. Both the DOJ and prior CCDC settlement agreements with Greyhound have 

required that Greyhound bus operators engage in the process of cycling the lift before departing 

for this reason.  

132. On information and belief, both bus operators involved in the incidents for the 

trips for which Ms. Reiskin purchased Greyhound tickets—the August 28, 2018 trip and the 

September 11, 2020 trip—were not trained to proficiency to be able to operate the accessible 

equipment on the buses. 

133. Although the wheelchair lift was operable on the Greyhound bus for the 

September 11, 2020, trip, the driver was unable to open the wheelchair lift door or move the 
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seats near the wheelchair lift as is necessary to accommodate a wheelchair when Ms. Reiskin 

attempted to board. 

134. After a significant delay, the driver was eventually able to open the wheelchair lift 

door and move the seats permitting Ms. Reiskin to board the bus and travel. 

135. Plaintiffs contacted Greyhound in an effort to seek reimbursement for Ms. 

Reiskin’s cab trip and otherwise resolve the legal violations discussed above. 

136. As part of Plaintiffs’ communication with Greyhound, Plaintiffs received a letter 

from Greyhound’s ADA Coordinator, Kyra Walker, in which Ms. Walker discussed the efforts 

Greyhound utilizes to train their staff and maintain their lifts. 

137. With respect to Greyhound’s “ADA Compliance Training,” which was required 

under the DOJ CD and which is required in the training requirements of the ADA, Ms. Walker 

explained that drivers receive training upon being hired, undergo refresher courses on their 

obligations under the ADA, and must demonstrate technical skills such as deploying the 

wheelchair lift. 

138. Ms. Walker also provided documents indicating that Mr. Watson had completed 

Greyhound’s ADA trainings and demonstrated skills in 2016 and 2017. 

139. Despite that training and skill demonstration by Mr. Watson, his inability to locate 

and operate the manual lift and his insistence that Ms. Reiskin should have called Greyhound 

prior to her trip illustrate that Greyhound’s “ADA Compliance Training” is either inadequate or 

that compliance with that training is not enforced by Greyhound. 

140. Ms. Walker further discussed Greyhound’s “Lift Maintenance” policies and 

practices, which include testing and monitoring the condition of wheelchair lifts.  
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141. Ms. Walker provided documents purporting to show Greyhound’s maintenance of 

bus number 6572. 

142. Despite those maintenance policies and practices, the failure of the wheelchair lift 

to deploy on August 28, 2018, either electronically or manually, as well as the state of the fuse 

box, manual override compartment and components, illustrates that Greyhound’s “Lift 

Maintenance” policies and practices are either inadequate or that compliance with those policies 

and practices is not enforced by Greyhound. 

143. Ms. Walker noted that, although the bus had been serviced less than a month prior 

to Ms. Reiskin’s incident on August 28, 2018, a Greyhound maintenance technician noted that 

the lift did not function due to a blown fuse. 

144. Ms. Walker did not explain why the lift was unable to be deployed manually 

regardless of an electrical failure such as a blown fuse. 

145. All Greyhound wheelchair lifts are required to have a backup system to ensure 

that it may be operated by the bus operator in case of a power failure. 49 C.F.R. § 38.159(b)(3) 

(“Emergency operation. The lift shall incorporate an emergency method of deploying, lowering 

to ground level with a lift occupant, and raising and stowing the empty lift if the power to the lift 

fails.”). 

146. Ms. Walker did explain, however, that: 

Despite all of Greyhound’s efforts, the undisputed fact is that the wheelchair lift 
system is “fickle” at best. Often, a driver cannot get the lift to operate properly 
while an on-site technician is able to get it to work at the garage just minutes 
earlier. At times, just the angle of the coach or door opening will make the 
electrical lift deployment system inoperable. A lift may work at one moment and 
not work shortly thereafter with no intervening causes for it to malfunction. 
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Letter from Kira Walker, ADA Compliance Manager, Greyhound Lines, Inc., to Andrew 

C. Montoya, Legal Program Attorney, CCDC 4-5 (June 5, 2019) (attached hereto as 

Exhibit 2). 

147. Ms. Reiskin and other individuals with disabilities who require the use of 

motorized wheelchairs or other mobility devices should not be subject to wheelchair lift systems 

that are “fickle” thirty years after the passage of the ADA, including its requirements to ensure 

wheelchair lifts and other accessibility equipment work properly and that bus operators must be 

trained to proficiency with respect to the operation of accessibility equipment on Greyhound’s 

buses. 

148. Ms. Reiskin frequently travels by OTRBs throughout Colorado and surrounding 

states, most often for work related to her position as the Executive Director of CCDC. Traveling 

around the state of Colorado and meeting with other CCDC members and individuals and entities 

that are related to the mission and purpose of CCDC’s work are extremely common and 

important parts of Ms. Reiskin’s job duties. 

149. Ms. Reiskin prefers to travel by OTRBs rather than by air. 

150. For some of the many trips Ms. Reiskin must take related to her work, Greyhound 

is the only option for travel between the two destinations. 

151. Ms. Reiskin’s experiences confirm the “fickle” nature of Greyhound’s lifts. 

152. In Ms. Reiskin’s experience, the wheelchair lifts on other ORTB operators’ buses 

throughout Colorado and in other states are not “fickle.” 

153. In Ms. Reiskin’s experience, other OTRB operators’ use and operation of the 

wheelchair lifts and other accessibility features have been much more reliable than Greyhound’s 
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wheelchair lifts and other accessibility features. 

154. Because of the “fickle” nature of Greyhound’s lifts, Ms. Reiskin attempts to avoid 

Greyhound when traveling, which has resulted in her traveling by air more frequently. 

155. Traveling on airplanes is more expensive than using OTRBs. 

156. Traveling throughout Colorado using a motorized wheelchair is much more 

complicated than it is for people who do not have mobility disabilities, and when accessibility 

features of vehicles do not work, as has occurred during Ms. Reiskin’s many trips using 

Greyhound over the years, immediately adjusting travel plans to compensate for such failures is 

far more complicated, difficult, and extensive than is the case for a nondisabled person who does 

not need to rely on mobility devices. Often, however, Ms. Reiskin has had no choice but to use 

Greyhound to get to her location. 

157. Ms. Walker also relayed a statement written by Mr. Watson, in which he wrote: 

“Prior to leaving denver [sic] I asked the mechanic if I could change out buses. The mechanic 

said he not willing change [sic] buses because it was a good bus and everything works properly.” 

Id. at 2. 

158. A copy of Mr. Watson’s written statement is attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 

159. The system of regular and frequent maintenance checks that Greyhound has 

established for its wheelchair lifts and other features of its OTRBs, including those that have 

resulted from lawsuits and settlement agreements over many years, and that are required to make 

its OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities is not sufficient to 

determine if they are operative for the purposes of daily passenger use. 

160. The wheelchair lifts and other features of Greyhound’s OTRBs that are required 
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to make its OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities are 

improperly or inadequately maintained. 

161. Greyhound has a practice of improperly or inadequately maintaining the 

wheelchair lifts and other features of its OTRBs that are required to make its OTRBs readily 

accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities. 

162. This issue, the improper or inadequate maintenance of wheelchair lifts and other 

accessibility features, has been alleged routinely in litigation and resolved in settlements with 

training requirements, reporting requirements, and other monitoring requirements over many 

years since the passage of the ADA; Greyhound still does not comply and is unwilling to do so 

unless it is the subject of another injunction. 

163. On information and belief, Greyhound does not promptly repair its damaged 

wheelchair lifts and other features of its OTRBs that are required to make its OTRBs readily 

accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities. 

164. This issue, the failure to repair malfunctioning wheelchair lifts and other 

accessibility features in a prompt fashion, has been alleged routinely in litigation and resolved in 

settlements with training requirements, reporting requirements, and other monitoring 

requirements over many years since the passage of the ADA; Greyhound still does not comply 

and is unwilling to do so unless it is the subject of another injunction. 

165. On information and belief, Greyhound has a practice of not promptly repairing its 

damaged wheelchair lifts and other features of its OTRBs that are required to make its OTRBs 

readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities. 

166. This issue, the ongoing practice of not promptly repairing its damaged wheelchair 
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lifts and other accessibility features, has been alleged routinely in litigation and resolved in 

settlements with training requirements, reporting requirements, and other monitoring 

requirements over many years since the passage of the ADA; Greyhound still does not comply 

and is unwilling to do so unless it is the subject of another injunction. 

167. On information and belief, when Greyhound’s wheelchair lifts and other features 

of its OTRBs that are required to make its OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals 

with disabilities are rendered inoperable due to the angle of the coach or door opening, 

Greyhound has failed to ensure that the accessible routes from its bus stops to its OTRBs are free 

of obstruction and properly maintained. 

168. This issue, the interoperability of wheelchair lifts and other accessibility features 

due to the “angle of the coach or door opening” or due to “no intervening causes for it to 

malfunction,” has been admitted by Greyhound’s “ADA Coordinator” as an excuse for 

Greyhound’s ongoing noncompliance with the ADA.  

169. On information and belief, when Greyhound’s wheelchair lifts and other features 

of its OTRBs that are required to make its OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals 

with disabilities are rendered inoperable due to the angle of the coach or door opening, 

Greyhound has failed to ensure that its lifts deploy to all levels normally encountered in the 

operating environment, including the ground, curbs, and intermediate positions. 

170. On information and belief, Greyhound’s wheelchair lifts do not incorporate an 

adequate or appropriate emergency method of deploying, lowering to ground level with a lift 

occupant, and raising and stowing the empty lift if the power to the lift fails. 

171. This issue, the interoperability of wheelchair lifts and other accessibility features 
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for the reason listed in the paragraphs above, has been alleged routinely in litigation and resolved 

in settlements with training requirements, reporting requirements, and other monitoring 

requirements over many years since the passage of the ADA; Greyhound still does not comply 

and is unwilling to do so unless it is the subject of another injunction. 

172. On information and belief, when a Greyhound driver is unable to get a wheelchair 

lift to operate properly while an on-site technician is able to get the lift to work at the garage just 

minutes earlier, either Greyhound has failed to adequately and appropriately maintain its lifts and 

other features of its OTRBs that are required to make its OTRBs readily accessible to and usable 

by individuals with disabilities or Greyhound has failed to provide its drivers with adequate and 

appropriate training related to the lift or other features of its OTRBs that are required to make its 

OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities. 

173. On information and belief, Greyhound has exhibited a pattern of its drivers being 

unable to get a wheelchair lift to operate properly while an on-site technician is able to get the lift 

to work at the garage just minutes earlier. 

174. On information and belief, when Greyhound alleges the wheelchair lift on a 

Greyhound OTRB works at one moment and does not work shortly thereafter with no 

intervening causes for it to malfunction, either Greyhound has failed to adequately and 

appropriately maintain its lifts and other features of its OTRBs that are required to make its 

OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities or Greyhound has failed 

to provide its drivers with adequate and appropriate training related to the lift or other features of 

its OTRBs that are required to make its OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals 

with disabilities. 
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175. On information and belief, Greyhound has exhibited a pattern of wheelchair lifts 

on a Greyhound OTRB working at one moment and not working shortly thereafter with no 

intervening causes for it to malfunction. 

176. When a Greyhound ORTB malfunctions, regardless of whether there is an 

intervening cause or not, the result is often discrimination against people with disabilities, 

including being stranded and unable to access necessary transportation and services, such as food 

and drink, restrooms, and shelter. 

177. CCDC’s purpose is to promote independence, self-reliance, and full participation 

for people with all types of disabilities, and to combat discrimination against individuals with 

disabilities, through advocacy, education, research, and training. As a part of that purpose, 

CCDC seeks to ensure that individuals who use wheelchairs and other mobility devices requiring 

the use of Greyhound’s wheelchair lifts and other features of its OTRBs that are required to 

make its OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities have access 

to—and do not encounter discrimination in—participating in travel around and throughout 

Colorado and the nation. 

178. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts 

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities. This effort and 

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defendant’s violations of the 

ADA, Section 504 and the CADA. 

179. Ms. Reiskin has been damaged and aggrieved by Greyhound’s discrimination as 

set forth in this Complaint. 

180. CCDC has been damaged and aggrieved by Greyhound’s discrimination as set 
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forth in this Complaint. 

181. CCDC’s members who use wheelchairs and other mobility devices requiring the 

use of Greyhound’s wheelchair lifts and other features of its OTRBs that are required to make its 

OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities have been damaged and 

aggrieved by Greyhound’s discrimination as set forth in this Complaint.  

182. In the absence of yet another order requiring Greyhound to comply with its 

statutory obligations, Ms. Reiskin will continue to be damaged and aggrieved by Greyhound’s 

discrimination as set forth in this Complaint. 

183. In the absence of yet another order requiring Greyhound to comply with its 

statutory obligations, CCDC will continue to be damaged and aggrieved by Greyhound’s 

discrimination as set forth in this Complaint. 

184. In the absence of yet another order requiring Greyhound to comply with its 

statutory obligations, CCDC’s members who use wheelchairs and other mobility devices 

requiring the use of Greyhound’s wheelchair lifts and other accessibility features of its OTRBs 

that are required to make its OTRBs readily accessible to and usable by individuals with 

disabilities will continue to be damaged and aggrieved by Greyhound’s discrimination as set 

forth in this Complaint. 

First Claim for Relief 
(Violations of the ADA) 

 
185. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations 

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 
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186. Title III of the ADA provides in pertinent part: “No individual shall be 

discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of specified public 

transportation services provided by a private entity that is primarily engaged in the business of 

transporting people and whose operations affect commerce.” 42 U.S.C. § 12184(a). 

187. Ms. Reiskin is an individual with a disability. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102 (defining 

disability); 28 C.F.R. § 36.105 (same). 

188. “The term ‘private entity’ means any entity other than a public entity (as defined 

in section 12131(1) of this title).” 42 U.S.C. § 12181(6). 

189. “The term ‘specified public transportation’ means transportation by bus, rail, or 

any other conveyance (other than by aircraft) that provides the general public with general or 

special service (including charter service) on a regular and continuing basis.” Id. § 12181(10). 

190. Greyhound is a private entity that is primarily engaged in the business of 

transporting people whose operations affect commerce. 

191. Greyhound has a long history of engaging in a pattern or practice of systematic 

discrimination against people with disabilities who use motorized wheelchairs or mobility 

devices, such as Ms. Reiskin, as defined under the ADA. 

192. Under Title III, prohibited discrimination includes a failure to comply with the 

regulations promulgated by the DOT and DOJ. See 42 U.S.C. §§ 12184(b)(4) (mandating 

compliance with regulations), 12186(a)-(c) (requiring DOT to promulgate regulations for 

OTRBs and other forms of transportation). See also 49 C.F.R. § 37.5(f) (prohibiting 

discrimination by private entities such as Greyhound and requiring them to comply with ADA 
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regulations promulgated by the DOJ, 28 C.F.R. §§ 36.301-36.306); 49 C.F.R. § 37.45 (requiring 

private entities to comply with DOJ regulations in constructing and altering transit facilities). 

193. Considerable weight and deference is warranted with respect to the DOT 

transportation regulations. Toomer v. City Cab, 443 F.3d 1191, 1196 (10th Cir. 2006) (citing 

Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843-44 (1984)). 

194. The DOJ’s Title III “guidance is entitled to deference because it represents the 

DOJ’s authoritative interpretation of its own regulations.” Colo. Cross-Disability Coal. v. 

Abercrombie & Fitch Co., 957 F. Supp. 2d 1272 (D. Colo. 2013), aff’d in part, rev’d in part, 765 

F.3d 1205 (10th Cir. 2014). 

195. The DOT regulations explicitly state that “[n]o entity shall discriminate against an 

individual with a disability in connection with the provision of transportation service.” 49 C.F.R. 

§ 37.5(a). 

196. The regulations further provide:  
 
Private entity-private transport. Private entities that are primarily engaged in the 
business of transporting people and whose operations affect commerce shall not 
discriminate against any individual on the basis of disability in the full and equal 
enjoyment of specified transportation services. This obligation includes, with 
respect to the provision of transportation services, compliance with the 
requirements of the rules of the Department of Justice concerning eligibility 
criteria, making reasonable modifications, providing auxiliary aids and services, 
and removing barriers (28 CFR 36.301–36.306). 

 
49 C.F.R. § 37.5(i)(1). 
 

197. Specifically related to this case, under the DOT regulations: 

private entities providing transportation services shall maintain in operative 
condition those features of facilities and vehicles that are required to make the 
vehicles and facilities readily accessible to and usable by individuals with 
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disabilities. These features include, but are not limited to, lifts and other means of 
access to vehicles . . . . 
 

49 C.F.R. § 37.161(a) (emphasis added). 
 

198. With respect to the maintenance of wheelchair lifts for OTRBs, the DOT 

regulations state the following: 

(a) The entity shall establish a system of regular and frequent maintenance 
checks of lifts sufficient to determine if they are operative. 

 
(b) The entity shall ensure that vehicle operators report to the entity, by the most 

immediate means available, any failure of a lift to operate in service. 
 
(c) Except as provided in paragraph (d) of this section, when a lift is discovered 

to be inoperative, the entity shall take the vehicle out of service before the 
beginning of the vehicle's next trip and ensure that the lift is repaired before 
the vehicle returns to service. 

 
49 C.F.R. § 37.203. 
 

199. On information and belief, Greyhound has continued its practice of not 

establishing an adequate system of regular and frequent maintenance checks of lifts to determine 

if they are operative, causing the problems with the accessibility equipment during the incidents 

referenced in this Complaint. 

200. On information and belief, Greyhound has continued its practice of failing to 

ensure that vehicle operators report to Greyhound, by the most immediate means available, any 

failure of its wheelchair lifts to operate in service, causing the problems with the wheelchair lifts 

during the incidents referenced in this Complaint. 

201. On information and belief, Greyhound has continued its practice of failing to take 

its vehicles out of service when a wheelchair lift is discovered to be inoperative before the 
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beginning of the vehicle's next trip and ensure that the lift is repaired before the vehicle returns to 

service, causing the problems with the wheelchair lifts during the incidents referenced in this 

Complaint.. 

202. “For purposes of this part, a vehicle shall be considered to be readily accessible to 

and usable by individuals with disabilities if it meets the requirements of this part and the 

standards set forth in part 38 of this title.” 49 C.F.R. § 37.7(a). 

203. The DOT regulations in Part 38 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations, in 

turn, mandate that “[a]ll vehicles covered by this subpart shall provide a level-change mechanism 

or boarding device (e.g., lift or ramp) complying with paragraph (b) or (c) of this section and 

sufficient clearances to permit a wheelchair or other mobility aid user to reach a securement 

location.” 49 C.F.R. § 38.159(a)(1). 

204. That regulatory section continues:  

The lift shall deploy to all levels (i.e., ground, curb, and intermediate positions) 
normally encountered in the operating environment. . . . The controls shall allow 
reversal of the lift operation sequence, such as raising or lowering a platform that 
is part way down, without allowing an occupied platform to fold or retract into the 
stowed position. 

 
Id. § 38.159(b)(2)(i). 
 

205. The DOT regulations in Part 37 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations 

continue, “[a]ccessibility features shall be repaired promptly if they are damaged or out of order. 

When an accessibility feature is out of order, the entity shall take reasonable steps to 

accommodate individuals with disabilities who would otherwise use the feature.” 49 C.F.R. § 

37.161(b). 

206. The DOJ regulations also address the following: “Emergency operation. The lift 
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shall incorporate an emergency method of deploying, lowering to ground level with a lift 

occupant, and raising and stowing the empty lift if the power to the lift fails.” 49 C.F.R. § 

38.159(b)(3). 

207. Wheelchair lifts that a driver cannot get to operate properly while an on-site 

technician is able to get it to work at the garage just minutes earlier are either not maintained in 

operative condition or not operated by a driver who has been trained to proficiency with respect 

to how to use the wheelchair lift. Under the DOT regulations, these conditions constitute 

discrimination under the ADA. 

208. Wheelchair lifts that work at one moment and do not work shortly thereafter with 

no intervening causes for them to malfunction either are not maintained in operative condition or 

are not operated by a driver who has been trained to proficiency with respect to how to use 

wheelchair lifts. Under the DOT regulations, these conditions constitute discrimination under the 

ADA. 

209. On information and belief, wheelchair lift manual overrides that are missing 

pieces are not maintained in operative condition. 

210. On information and belief, wheelchair lift manual overrides that have broken 

pieces are not maintained in operative condition. 

211. On information and belief, wheelchair lift manual overrides that do not work 

properly are not maintained in operative condition. 

212. With respect to Greyhound’s employee training, the DOT regulations state that: 

Each public or private entity which operates a fixed route or demand responsive 
system shall ensure that personnel are trained to proficiency, as appropriate to their 
duties, so that they operate vehicles and equipment safely and properly assist and 
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treat individuals with disabilities who use the service in a respectful and courteous 
way, with appropriate attention to the difference among individuals with 
disabilities. 
 

49 C.F.R. § 37.173 (emphasis added). 
 

213. As further clarified in the DOT regulations: 

For purposes of § 37.173, “training to proficiency” is deemed to include, as 
appropriate to the duties of particular employees, training in proper operation and 
maintenance of accessibility features and equipment, boarding assistance, 
securement of mobility aids, sensitive and appropriate interaction with passengers 
with disabilities, handling and storage of mobility devices, and familiarity with 
the requirements of this subpart. OTRB operators shall provide refresher training 
to personnel as needed to maintain proficiency. 
 

49 C.F.R. § 37.209 (emphasis added). See also 49 C.F.R., pt. 37, app. D at 488 (“A bus driver 

must know how to operate lifts and securement devices properly. A mechanic who works on lifts 

must know how to maintain them. Cross-training, while useful in some instances, is not required, 

so long as each employee is trained to proficiency in what he or she does with respect to service 

to individuals with disabilities.”). 

214. A driver who cannot deploy a wheelchair lift on an ORTB is not trained to 

proficiency. 

215. A driver who cannot locate the manual override compartment is not trained to 

proficiency. 

216. A driver who cannot use a wheelchair lift’s manual override is not trained to 

proficiency. 

217. A driver who informs a passenger with a disability that that passenger should 

have complied with a policy no longer in effect, such as calling Greyhound forty-eight hours in 

advance of travel, is not trained to proficiency. 
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218. A mechanic who fails to ensure that a wheelchair lift functions is not trained to 

proficiency. 

219. A mechanic who fails to ensure that a manual override system is not missing 

pieces is not trained to proficiency. 

220. A mechanic who fails to ensure that a manual override does not have broken 

pieces is not trained to proficiency. 

221. A mechanic who fails to ensure that a manual override functions as intended is 

not trained to proficiency. 

222. A mechanic who responds to a request from a driver to change buses by stating 

that the bus the driver seeks to change from is in working order only to have the wheelchair lift 

of that bus fail shortly thereafter is not trained to proficiency. 

223. Title III of the ADA further defines “public accommodation” to include “a 

terminal, depot, or other station used for specified public transportation[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 

12181(7)(G). 

224. Under Title III, discrimination includes the “failure to design and construct 

facilities” open for first occupancy after approximately January 26, 1993, “that are readily 

accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities . . . .” 42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(1). 

225. Title III further defines discrimination as, “with respect to a facility or part thereof 

that is altered by, on behalf of, or for the use of an establishment in a manner that affects or could 

affect the usability of the facility or part thereof, a failure to make alterations in such a manner 

that, to the maximum extent feasible, the altered portions of the facility are readily accessible to 
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and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.” Id. § 

12183(a)(2). 

226. Regarding facilities existing as of approximately January 26, 1993, discrimination 

under Title III includes “a failure to remove architectural barriers . . . and transportation barriers 

in existing vehicles . . . where such removal is readily achievable . . . .” 42 U.S.C. § 

12182(b)(2)(A)(iv). See 49 C.F.R. § 37.45 (“In constructing and altering transit facilities, private 

entities shall comply with the regulations of the Department of Justice implementing Title III of 

the ADA (28 CFR part 36).”). See also 28 C.F.R. § 36.304(a) (same). 

227. To the extent that a wheelchair lift on an ORTB becomes inoperable due solely to 

the angle of the coach or door opening while at a bus stop, as the ADA Coordinator alleged in 

this case, the owner, operator, lessor, or lessee of that bus stop either did not construct the bus 

stop to be readily accessible to and usable by people with disabilities or failed to remove 

architectural barriers and transportation barriers. 

228. Title III also prohibits any public accommodation from discriminating either 

directly or through “contractual, licensing, or other arrangements” with other entities that results 

in the denial of an opportunity of the individual with the disability to benefit from the goods, 

services, facilities, privileges, advantages or accommodations of an entity. 42 U.S.C. § 

12182(b)(1)(A)(i)–(iii). See also 36 C.F.R. § 36.202(a)–(c) (same). “The intent of 

the contractual prohibitions of these paragraphs is to prohibit a public accommodation from 

doing indirectly, through a contractual relationship, what it may not do directly.” 28 C.F.R. pt. 

36, app. C. at 956 (interpreting 36 C.F.R. § 36.202(a)–(c)). 
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229. On information and belief, Greyhound was the owner, operator, lessor or lessee, 

or had contractual, licensing or other arrangements with the owner and/or operator of the 

Glenwood Springs, Colorado bus stop at all times relevant to the incidents described in this 

Complaint. 

230. Greyhound has discriminated against Ms. Reiskin on the basis of her disability. 

231. Plaintiffs have been and will continue to be injured, damaged, and aggrieved by 

Greyhound’s discrimination. 

232. Ms. Reiskin will use Greyhound in the near future because Greyhound is the only 

wheelchair accessible transportation service available in some parts of Colorado, and Ms. 

Reiskin will continue to travel throughout the state of Colorado as part of her duties as the 

Executive Director of CCDC. 

233. Other members of CCDC will use Greyhound in the near future because 

Greyhound is the only wheelchair accessible transportation service available in some parts of 

Colorado, and, therefore, members of CCDC who use motorized wheelchairs and other mobility 

devices and who do not have their own vehicle must rely on Greyhound. 

234. Members of CCDC, including Ms. Reiskin, would be willing to test Greyhound’s 

services to ensure that they are accessible in the near future. See Colo. Cross Disability Coal. v. 

Abercrombie & Fitch Co., 765 F.3d 1205, 1211 (10th Cir. 2014) (holding that “‘tester standing’ 

exists under Title III”). As stated in this Complaint, it is a part of CCDC’s mission and purpose 

to ensure that entities like Greyhound comply with the ADA. 

235. Given Greyhound’s repeated violations of the ADA since its passage, as 

demonstrated by numerous prior lawsuits, settlements, Consent Decrees and DOJ agreements, 
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and the response by its ADA Coordinator in this case, members of CCDC, including Ms. 

Reiskin, are extremely likely to encounter the same discrimination in the future.  

236. Greyhound has a demonstrated pattern and practice of entering into a settlement 

agreement or Consent Decree and engaging in the same pattern or practice of discrimination that 

led to the settlement agreement or Consent Decree during the pendency of or almost immediately 

after the settlement agreement or Consent Decree expires. 

237. In the absence of the injunction requested herein, Greyhound will continue to 

discriminate against Plaintiffs, including other CCDC members who use mobility devices, on the 

basis of disability in violation of Title III of the ADA and its implementing regulations. 

238. Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief and the recovery of reasonable attorneys’ 

fees from Greyhound for its violations of Title III of the ADA. See, e.g., 42 U.S.C. §§ 12188, 

12205. 

Second Claim for Relief 
(Violations of Section 504) 

 
239. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations 

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

240. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), provides in 

pertinent part: 

No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States . . . shall, 
solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be 
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 
activity receiving Federal financial assistance . . . .   
 
241. On information and belief, Greyhound operates programs or activities that receive 

federal financial assistance.   
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242. Ms. Reiskin is a qualified individual with a disability and has been subjected to 

discrimination by Greyhound, as described in this Complaint, solely on the basis of her 

disability. 

243. Defendant and its agents acted intentionally and with a reckless disregard for Ms. 

Reiskin’s civil rights and the civil rights of other individuals who use wheelchairs or mobility 

devices and require the use of the accessibility features of Greyhound’s OTRBs. 

244. Plaintiffs have been and will continue to be injured, damaged and aggrieved by 

Greyhound’s discrimination. 

245. Section 504 and the ADA involve the same substantive standards. 1 Americans 

with Disab.: Pract. & Compliance Manual § 1:8 (“Standards for claims under Title III of the 

ADA and under § 504 are essentially the same. However, the protections of Title III, which 

prohibits discrimination by any person who owns, leases, or operates a place of public 

accommodation, are not as broad as those provided by § 504, since § 504 encompasses any 

program or activity that receives federal funds, while the Title III only covers persons who own, 

lease, or operate places of public accommodation.”) (footnotes omitted).  

246. For the same reasons that Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief under the First 

Claim for Relief, they are entitled to injunctive relief under this Second Claim for Relief. 

247. Plaintiffs have suffered harm and will continue to suffer harm as a result of 

Greyhound’s continued discrimination as set forth in this Complaint. 

248. Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief, monetary damages, and the recovery of 

reasonable attorneys’ fees from Greyhound for its violations of Section 504. See, e.g., 29 U.S.C. 

§ 794a (providing for declaratory and injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees and costs). 
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Third Claim for Relief 
(Violations of the CADA) 

 
249. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations set forth 

above. 

250. Greyhound operates “place[s] of public accommodation” or “public 

accommodation[s].” See Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-301(5.3) (“‘Place of public accommodation’ or 

‘public accommodation’ has the same meaning as set forth in Title III of the federal ‘Americans 

with Disabilities Act of 1990’, 42 U.S.C. sec. 12181(7), and its related amendments and 

implementing regulations.”). 

251. Like the ADA, Colorado law makes it “a discriminatory practice and unlawful for 

a person, directly or indirectly, to refuse, withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, 

because of disability . . . the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, 

advantages, or accommodations of a place of public accommodation . . . .” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-

34-601(2)(a). 

252. The CADA is to be construed consistently with the ADA. Id. § 24-34-802(4) (“A 

court that hears civil suits pursuant to this section shall apply the same standards and defenses 

that are available under the federal ‘Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990’, 42 U.S.C. sec. 

12101 et seq., and its related amendments and implementing regulations.”). See also 3 Colo. 

Code Regs. § 708-1:60.1(A) (“The Law concerning handicap and/or disability is substantially 

equivalent to Federal law, as set forth in the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, and 

the Fair Housing Act concerning disability.”). 
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253. Greyhound’s actions, as set forth in this Complaint, have denied, and continue to 

deny, Plaintiffs and others with disabilities the full and equal enjoyment of its public 

accommodation. 

254. A violation of CADA based on disability can be remedied by injunctive relief, 

and “actual monetary damages” or a statutory fine of up to $3,500. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-

802(2)(a). 

255. Plaintiffs have suffered and continue to suffer actual monetary damages as a result 

of Greyhound’s actions. 

256. For the same reasons that Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief under the First 

Claim for Relief, they are entitled to injunctive relief under this Third Claim for Relief. 

257. Plaintiff are being deprived every day of the ability to rely on Greyhound for 

transportation throughout Colorado and surrounding states due to Greyhound’s discrimination. 

258. Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief, monetary damages, and the recovery of 

reasonable attorneys’ fees from Greyhound for its violations of the CADA. See, e.g., Colo. Rev. 

Stat. § 24-34-802(2)-(3). 

Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray: 

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction; 

2. That this Court issue an Order declaring Greyhound to be in violation of Title III of the 

ADA, Section 504, and the CADA; 

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Greyhound to adequately and appropriately 

maintain its wheelchair lifts in operable condition, to adequately and appropriately train its staff 
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regarding Greyhound’s obligations under Title III of the ADA, Section 504, and the CADA, and 

remedy the other forms of discrimination described in this Complaint. 

4. That this Court award Plaintiffs damages. 

5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper and 

equitable. 

JURY DEMAND: Plaintiffs request this case be heard by a jury. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Andrew C. Montoya       
Andrew C. Montoya 
Kevin W. Williams 
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 
1385 South Colorado Boulevard 
Suite 610-A 
Denver, Colorado 80222 
Phone: (720) 336-1036 
Facsimile: (720) 420-1390 
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org 
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
Dated: August 27, 2020 
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